1992

# John H. Schmidt v. State of Utah, and O. Lane McCotter, Warden of the Utah State Prison : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a judgment denying extraordinary writ of habeas corpus relief. This court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Rule 65D (b)(10) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and pursuant to Rule 20 (a)(b) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered against appellant in the Second Judicial District Court, in and for Weber County, the honorable Stanton M. Taylor, Judge, presiding. Appellant was denied extraordinary writ of habeas corpus relief. On June 19, 1992, appellant was convicted of possession of a controlled substance, a third degree felony, and possession of marijuana, a class A misdemeanor. Appellant was sentenced to a term of zero to five years imprisonment on June 19, 1991. Notice of Appeal was filed on June 26, 1991 in the lower court proceedings in case no. 91190082. This appeal subsequently ensued. Appellant is proceeding pro se.

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues will be presented for review in this appeal:

1. Did the trial court commit prejudicial review in refusing to appoint legal counsel for the appellant on his first appeal?
2. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error in refusing to declare the rights, status, and legal relations of appellant?
3. Was appellant denied his due process rights by defense counsel's failure to file appellant's opening appeal brief of first appeal?
4. Was appellant denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel by the defense counsel's failure to file appellant's first appeal?

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

There are differing standards of review for these issues. The appropriate standard will be described in the opening paragraph of each point in the argument.

### CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

Rule 6 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure:

#### Appointment of Counsel:

"A defendant charged with a public offense, other than an infraction, who is indigent and unable to obtain counsel has the right to court-appointed counsel if he faces a substantial probability of deprivation of liberty, or the to represent himself."



~ 77-32-1 of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure:

Minimum standards provided by county for defense of indigent defendants.

"The following are minimum standards to be provided by each county, city, and town for the defense of indigent persons in criminal cases in the courts and various administrative bodies of the state:

- (1) Provide counsel for every indigent person who faces the substantial probability of the deprivation of his liberty;
- (2) Afford timely representation by competent legal counsel;
- (3) Provide the investigatory and other facilities necessary for a complete defense;
- (4) Assure undivided loyalty of defense counsel to the client; and
- (5) Include the taking of a first appeal of right and the prosecuting of other remedies before or after a conviction,..."

~ 77-32-2 of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure:

Assignment of counsel on request of defendant or order of court.

"Counsel shall be assigned to represent each indigent person who is under arrest for or charged with a crime in which there is a substantial probability that the penalty to be imposed is confinement in either jail or prison if:

- (1) The defendant requests it; or
- (2) The court on its own motion or otherwise so orders and the defendant does not affirmatively waive or reject of record the opportunity to be represented."

~ 77-32-3 of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure:

Duties of assigned counsel - Compensation.

"(1) When representing an indigent person the assigned counsel shall:

- (a) Counsel and defend him at every stage of the proceeding following assignment; and
- (b) Prosecute any first appeal of right or other remedies before or after conviction that he considers to be in the interests of justice except for other and subsequent discretionary appeals or discretionary writ proceedings..."

The appropriate Constitutional Provisions will be cited as needed throughout the briefs and as necessary.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is incarcerated at the Young Adult Correctional Facility, at the Utah State Prison, and alleges he is being illegally deprived of his liberty and due process rights. On June 19, 1991, appellant was convicted of the offense of possession of a controlled substance, a felony of the third degree, and possession of marijuana, a class a misdemeanor. On June 26, 1991, Notice of Appeal was filed in the trial court.

On July 20, 1991, appellant executed an affidavit of Impecuniosity in the trial court for proceeding on appeal. The trial court appointed public defender, Martin V. Gravis to represent the appellant. On December 1, 1991, appellant's appeal was dismissed with prejudice for lack of prosecution. On or about August 10, 1992, appellant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the trial court. On September 25, 1992, the trial court dismissed the appellant's petition for writ of habeas corpus. On October 16, 1992, appellant filed a Notice of Appeal in the trial court challenging the dismissal of his writ of habeas corpus. Because of these events and actions, appellant pursues this matter on appeal now before the court.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal ensued as a result of actions and events stemming from the original conviction and or judgment Order committing appellant to be incarcerated at the Utah State Prison.

Appellant is an inmate incarcerated at the Utah State Prison. Appellant alleges he is illegally restrained from and wrongly deprived of his liberty, and denied his due process rights. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal of the final judgment order and conviction of June 19, 1991, in the trial court, on June 26, 1991.

Appellant filed an affidavit of Impediment in the trial court and the Utah Court of Appeals, and as a consequence he was appointed a public defender for legal representation to pursue his first appeal. Appellant filed a Docketing Statement in the Utah Court of Appeals on September 6, 1991, in the original proceedings. i.e., (Case No. 910550-CR). On October 10, 1991, the record on appeal was filed in the Utah Court of Appeals. Appellant's opening brief in the original proceedings (supra), was due on November 25, 1991.

However, the public defender representing the defendant filed a motion requesting an enlargement of time for filing appellant's brief on first appeal. The appellate court granted the motion enlarging the time of filing "due date" of appellant's brief, to be December 31, 1991. On January 13, 1992, the Utah Court of Appeals "dismissed" appellant's appeal upon the failure and lack of prosecution of the appointed defense counsel to file an "appellant brief" as required by Rules 24, 26, and 27 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 3 (a).

Appellant was not made aware of these facts and had no knowledge of the facts dismissing his original first appeal until on June 9, 1992, appellant contacted the court clerk of the appellate court and was informed of the disposition of his appeal on file. On August 25, 1992, appellant (petitioner) filed in the trial court a petition for writ of habeas corpus pursuant to Rule 65D (b) of the Utah Rule of Civil Procedure (as amended September 1991). On September 25, 1992, the trial judge dismissed appellant's (petitioner's) writ for habeas relief. Appellant filed timely Notice of Appeal with the judge and after remanded by the trial court on the "trial" on October 20, 1992, and the case was filed in the Utah Court of Appeals on October 20, 1992. This appeal now seeks to challenge the facts and issues for review before the court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The trial court failed to appoint competent legal representation for the defendant, an "indigent" person, on his "first appeal." The court abused its discretion in not insuring the appellant competent and effective legal representation on his first appeal. The court is bound to insure the rights of an indigent person at a minimum. These errors require that a hearing be granted to make findings on the issues and determine if the court abused its discretion.

The trial court failed to declare the rights, status, and other legal relations of the appellant. The circumstances are so substantive and indicate clearly that appellant has been denied due process of law. Any failure of the court to make findings of fact pertaining to questions of law, and that is to be reviewed for correctness requires

at minimum an evidentiary hearing to determine if the court abused its discretion.

The appellant's assigned counsel failed to file and effectively prosecute appellant's first appeal of right. Any failure of the appointed counsel to competently and effectively represent an indigent person without good cause, denied appellant his right to due process of law. The failure of appointed counsel to effectively prosecute appellant's first appeal of right violated appellant's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel.

#### CONCLUSION

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN FAILING TO ASSIGN TIMELY REPRESENTATION BY COMPETENT LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLANT ON HIS FIRST APPEAL.

The trial court then having original jurisdiction of this cause violated appellant's due process by having failed and refusing to re-appoint timely representation by competent legal counsel for appellant. The appellant established his right to be assigned counsel by having submitted and filing a sworn affidavit of indigency in both the trial court and the Utah Court of Appeals, and thereby having met the requirements of an indigent person.<sup>1</sup>

Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, states:

"A defendant charged with a public offense, other than an infraction, who is indigent and unable to obtain counsel has the right to court-appointed counsel if he faces a substantial probability of deprivation of liberty, or the right to represent himself."

---

1. §77-32-1 of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedures. [Counsel for Indigent Defendants].

The trial court was advised of this matter by the appellant, yet refused to remedy the error causing undue prejudice to appellant's defense by subjecting him to excessive delay in the appellate process.<sup>2</sup> Where a state guarantees the right to a direct appeal, as Utah does, the state is required to make that appeal satisfy the Due Process Clause.<sup>3</sup> Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 337, 105 S.Ct. 330, 33 L.Ed.2d 321 (1985). Appellant's judgment and conviction should be vacated.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR  
IN FAILING TO REVERSE JUDGMENT VIOLATING THE  
RIGHTS, STATUS, AND OR OTHER LEGAL RELATIONS  
OF APPELLANT.