1992

John H. Schmidt v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the district court's dismissal of a petition for writ of habeas corpus brought under Rule 65B(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This Court has jurisdiction to hear the appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(g) (Supp. 1992).

ISSUE PRESENTED UPON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Did the district court err in dismissing the petition as frivolous on its face?

In reviewing a dismissal of a petition for writ of habeas corpus, the reviewing court accords the trial court's conclusions of law no deference, but reviews them for correctness. Gerrish v. Barnes, 202 Utah. Adv. Rep. 7, 9 (Utah Dec. 16, 1992); Fernandez v. Cook, 783 P.2d 547, 549 (Utah 1989).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

All relevant text of constitutional provisions, statutes, or

rules pertinent to the resolution of the issue before the Court is contained in the body of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from petitioner's June, 1991 conviction of two counts of possession of a controlled substance, one a third degree felony and the other a class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8 (Supp. 1991). On June 26, 1991, attorney Martin Gravis filed a notice of appeal from these convictions on petitioner's behalf in the district court (Addendum A; R. 6). Following the filing of a docketing statement in this Court on September 6, 1991 (Addendum B; R. 8-9), a briefing schedule was set, and Gravis was advised by letter dated October 11, 1991 (Addendum C; R. 11) that his opening brief was due on or before November 25, 1991.

On December 20, 1991, this Court again wrote Gravis, advising him that his brief was in default and extending his briefing deadline to December 31, 1991 (Addendum D; R. 13). On January 13, 1992, the Court entered an order of dismissal based on petitioner's failure to file an opening brief.

Petitioner claims to have contacted Gravis repeatedly by letter and telephone during the period from September, 1991 to June, 1992, requesting information about his appeal (Addendum E; R. 21-23). He represents that Gravis consistently assured him that the briefing process was moving forward and that a decision on his appeal would be forthcoming (Addendum E; R. 21-23). Petitioner

states that after talking with another inmate on June 9, 1992, he became suspicious of Gravis' assurances and telephoned this Court to verify the actions taken pursuant to his appeal (Addendum E; R. 23). Petitioner claims to have learned of the dismissal of his appeal in the course of that call (Addendum E; R. 23).

On August 14, 1992, petitioner filed his petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Second District Court, alleging denial of constitutional and statutory rights based on the facts recited above and requesting procedural, declaratory, and injunctive relief (Addendum F; R. 1-4). The court entered a memorandum decision on September 25, 1992, dismissing the petition without hearing under Rule 65B(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (Addendum G; R. 28-29). Petitioner now appeals the dismissal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

No statement of facts beyond those set forth above is necessary to resolve the issue presented on appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents stipulate to the fact that petitioner has been deprived of his right to appeal his criminal convictions in this case by the failure of his appellate counsel to file an opening brief. Respondents further stipulate that reinstatement of his appeal in this Court would appropriately remedy this deprivation.

Under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(1)(b) (Supp. 1992), "The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to issue all extraordinary writs and to

issue all writs necessary: . . . (b) in aid of its jurisdiction." This Court can invoke the discretionary writ of common-law certiorari in aid of its supervisory jurisdiction over the actions of inferior courts to obtain the record in petitioner's criminal action and reinstate his appeal, an approach that was undertaken by the Utah Supreme Court in Boggess v. Morris, 635 P.2d 39 (Utah 1981). Because the facts justifying petitioner's right to an appeal have been established by stipulation, a remand to determine the validity of the petition is unnecessary. Therefore, respondents further concede that the district court's dismissal must be reversed to permit reinstatement of petitioner's appeal pursuant to Boggess.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY DISMISSED AS FRIVOLOUS PETITIONER'S CLAIM THAT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO APPEAL HIS CONVICTION WAS DENIED.

The right of criminal defendants to appeal their convictions is well established in both the constitution and case law. Article I, section 12 of the Utah Constitution states, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have . . . the right to appeal in all cases." See also State v. Johnson, 635 P.2d 36, 37 (Utah 1981) ("In all criminal prosecutions, an accused has a constitutional right to a timely appeal from his conviction.") Because the right to appeal is of constitutional stature, the court has not hesitated to provide remedial measures where deprivations of this right are

established.

Respondents stipulate to the fact that the briefing default of petitioner's attorney on appeal unconstitutionally deprived petitioner of his first appeal of right, and concede that on this ground, the district court erred in dismissing the petition as frivolous pursuant to Rule 65B(b)(7) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This legal error must therefore be corrected by reversing the dismissal below.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT'S ERRONEOUS DISMISSAL OF
THE PETITION MAY BE REMEDIED BY REINSTATEMENT
OF PETITIONER'S APPEAL.

In State v. Johnson, counsel failed to file a notice of appeal pursuant to the defendant's request. The court, ruling on defendant's motion for an extension of time to file an appeal, held that the defendant was entitled to a hearing before the district court to establish his reasonable reliance on counsel's agreement to take a timely appeal. Johnson, 635 P.2d at 38. The court further held that if the defendant made the requisite showing, he would be entitled to resentencing on the prior finding of guilt, triggering a new appeal period. Id.

In Boggess v. Morris, 635 P.2d 39 (Utah 1981), a companion case to Johnson, the defendant had been denied an opportunity to appeal his conviction due to counsel's failure to file a timely notice of appeal. He then filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus. The district court, finding he had been denied his right to appeal, granted the petition and ordered that the defendant be

permitted to file a belated appeal on the merits or have his conviction vacated. After the ensuing appeal was dismissed on the ground that the untimeliness was jurisdictional, the lower court ordered the defendant released from custody. On appeal from the underlying writ, the supreme court found that the petition had, in fact, established the denial of defendant's right to appeal. The court then invoked common-law certiorari in aid of its supervisory jurisdiction over the actions of the lower court to grant direct review of the alleged errors in the criminal action. The court stated that "where the facts have already been established by findings in a habeas corpus proceeding, it would be needlessly circular to require that defendant return to the district court to re-establish the facts by a post-conviction hearing and then to be resentenced to qualify for a direct appeal." Boggess at 42.

As in Boggess, petitioner has filed a habeas action to establish that his right of appeal was denied. Respondents stipulate to the fact that he was unconstitutionally deprived of his first appeal of right. Because the fact of the deprivation is thereby established, a remand to the district court would impose the needless circularity that Boggess sought to avoid. Therefore, respondents would not oppose the reinstatement of petitioner's appeal in this Court for adjudication of appellate claims that were properly articulated in the appeal as initially filed.

CONCLUSION

Respondents stipulate to the validity of petitioner's claim

that he was deprived of his first appeal of right by counsel's failure to file an opening brief. Because his right to appeal is thereby established, respondents concede that reversal of the lower court's dismissal and reinstatement of his appeal in this Court pursuant to Boggess would appropriately remedy his deprivation.